University of Texas at Tyler

Scholar Works at UT Tyler

MSN Capstone Projects

School of Nursing

Fall 11-27-2022

Palliative Care in the ICU

Grace Cunningham gcunningham2@patriots.uttyler.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uttyler.edu/nursing_msn



Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Cunningham, Grace, "Palliative Care in the ICU" (2022). MSN Capstone Projects. Paper 213. http://hdl.handle.net/10950/4107

This MSN Capstone Project is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Nursing at Scholar Works at UT Tyler. It has been accepted for inclusion in MSN Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of Scholar Works at UT Tyler. For more information, please contact tgullings@uttyler.edu.

Palliative Care Consultations in Intensive Care Unit

A Paper Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For NURS 5382

In the School of Nursing

The University of Texas at Tyler

by Grace Cunningham

November 27, 2022

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive Summary

Benchmark Study

- 1. Rationale for the Project
 - 1.1 Project Goals
- 2. Literature Discussion to Support Project
- 3. Project Stakeholders
- 4. Proposed Outcomes
- 5. Evaluation Design
- 6. Timetable/Flowchart
- 7. Data Collection Methods
- 8. Discussion of Evaluation
- 9. Costs/Benefits

Conclusions/Recommendations

References

Appendix

Acknowledgments

I would like to take this time to thank everybody that has helped me through my educational journey of furthering my nursing career. My fiancé, Brendan, my mom, dad, sister, and brother-in-law have extended the utmost patience and kindness throughput this process. My dog, Brownie, was always open arms for snuggles and kisses when I needed a break from school and work. My preceptor, Autumn Ladd, was one of my undergraduate instructors and happily took me under her wing during graduate school. I am thankful for her advice and constant encouragement throughout the last semester. Lastly, I want to thank my friends, Cristina, Chloe, and Lucas for supporting me through the ups and downs of this journey the last year and a half. I am elated to embark on this new adventure of becoming a nursing educator.

Executive Summary

Death and dying is an evident part of being admitted to the intensive care unit. However, too many times, the end-of-life conversations and palliative care team introduction are done when it is too late. The PICOT question is "In ICU patients (P), how does early palliative care involvement in the death and dying process (I) compared to later palliative care involvement in the death and dying process (C) affect positive patient outcomes (O) within the ICU hospital stay (T)?" The objective of this change project is to instill a sense of urgency in providing palliative consults upon admission as this is vital to each patient's well-being.

Palliative consults in the intensive care unit are vital to each patient's well-being. While this team is normally always involved in their care, earlier involvement is more appropriate to ensure positive patient outcomes. For example, from personal experience, this group of clinicians tend to enter the plan of care for patient's when death is inevitable instead of establishing a baseline with the patient and their family. The research provided shows the evidence of the importance of palliative care participation. Of these studies that have been reviewed and pondered on, all conclude that palliative care is essential especially in the critical care environment. Some studies discuss communication between nurses and their patients, others simply state that earlier palliative care involvement reduces mortality, length of stay, and hospital costs (Kyeremanteng et al, 2018). Implications for future research and clinical practice urge palliative care providers to begin consults and discussions upon admission to the ICU due to positive outcomes. Palliative care is essential to guiding patients and their loved ones through difficult times and decisions. They are an especially important part of healthcare and by timely incorporating their expertise, negative experiences regarding critical care can be limited.

1. Rationale for the Project

For ICU nurses, life or death decisions are being made at the bedside of a code. It is difficult for family to comprehend the extent of their loved one's illness without having discussions at the time of arrival. Nurses want what is best for their patients with as little grief on the family as possible, and by having these tough decisions solved in advance, it can save a lot of heart break and stress. While palliative care is normally included in the rounding process, the team doesn't always begin talking with the family until death is imminent and choices are needing to be made. This is doing injustice to the patient and their family.

Health outcomes are significantly improved with the assistance provided by the palliative care team in the intensive care unit. Tough decisions are made at the bedside of loved ones every day. While these are discussed, communication is vital to the family and patient as they embark on possible grief and sadness (Coventry et al., 2017). Even if hospice or end-of-life is not the result of the discussion, education and support from the medical staff enable an easier transition with increased patient and family satisfaction. The involvement of palliative care has the ability to produce more than just end-of-life decisions. This team can assist patients and their families in building skills, individual support in regards to physical and emotional assessment, and self-management going forward (Portz et al., 2021). Sometimes the mention of palliative care can immediately turn one's thoughts to end-of-life, however, this is not always the case. The presence of palliative care in the intensive care unit has shown to decrease in-hospital mortality (Liu et al., 2017). While end-of-life decisions can be made earlier on to avoid some grief and stress, palliative care does much more than this. The team is able to educate and support patients and their families, build skills, and can decrease in-hospital death rates.

1.1 Project Goals

The goal of this change project is to bring awareness of the need for and importance of earlier palliative care consultations, especially in the critical care setting. At the end of the day, nurses want what is best for their patients and by providing information and support via palliative care, there is an increase of positive patient outcomes. When considering evidence-based practice, it is vital to make sure to contemplate patient preference for change. Critically ill patients and families want to ensure their values and treatment preferences are upheld in every situation. It is vital to ensure we are advocating for our patients when they can no longer advocate for themselves due to intubation, neurological status, etcetera. In bringing all the evidence together, the question at hand is proven. Earlier palliative care team involvement in the death and dying proves does successfully affect patients and their families within the intensive care hospital stay.

2. Literature Discussion to Support Project

When deciding which studies to incorporate in order to promote this change, there were many factors included. For example, all studies chosen were relevant to the current times, meaning published within the last five years. This is important when deciding which literature to use to back up the research done because it may be irrelevant as times are always changing, especially in healthcare. Next, only studies written in English were chosen due to the predicted readers, as well as the person doing the research only speaking this language. The study designs were of three types: randomized controlled trials, qualitative descriptive studies, or systematic reviews and metanalysis. No publication statuses were taken account for since all articles were chosen on databases such as COCHRANE and PubMed. This was done due to reliability

purposes. With all these factors together, these articles were chosen meticulously in order to prove the point that palliative care should be introduced earlier on in the ICU process.

Twelve articles have been chosen that contain strong evidence in proving the question at hand to be evident. In these studies, more favorable outcomes are achieved. For example, utilizing palliative care when compared to continuing the normal patient care process, led to an increase in hospice transfers and more DNR transitions (Ma et al., 2019). Mortality rates and lengths of stay were also decreased when palliative care became involved in the care plan earlier on (Martins et al., 2016). Not only were patient outcomes positively affected in this manner, but intensive care costs were also lowered by the earlier introduction of the palliative care team (Kyeremanteng et al., 2018).

In synthesis, of the twelve articles, all of them contain palliative care involvement with the palliative care team. Five of the studies demonstrate a decrease in length of stay in the intensive care unit. Six studies showed a decrease in mortality of intensive care unit patients as well. While palliative care intervention is important in proving this PICOT question, understanding the best ways to do this through communication is vital. Therefore, while half of the articles discuss palliative care interventions and results of the interventions, the other half show that an increase in communication through different aspects of the care team regarding palliative care was almost just as beneficial. In bringing all of this evidence together, the question at hand is proven that earlier palliative care involvement in the death and dying process does positively affect patient outcomes within the ICU hospital stay.

3. Project Stakeholders

Understanding those who will be affected will help with project development, planning, implementation, evaluation, and ultimately the success of the evidence-based change. The stakeholders affected by this proposed change are palliative care clinicians and their team, as well as the patient and family. There is opportunity for inter-professional involvement because while the palliative team needs to be involved, the intensivists are also included. With earlier conversations of end of life and goals for the patient, comes a possible change in the plan of care. This would affect everybody on the patient's care team, not just palliative care. Permission will need to be obtained from the palliative care group and possibly the board of doctors, if there is one. The gatekeepers include the manager and supervisors of the ICU unit. Allies would possibly be other nurses on the unit as well as hospice care. The main goal of a nurse is to do what is best for their patient and by implementing this plan, it is enabling the care team to listen and grant the wishes of patients and their families.

4. Proposed Outcomes

The palliative team is a crucial factor in the care given to intensive care unit patients.

Without this team of providers, end-of-life care would be complicated. The major phases of this implementation plan are research, proposal, approval, collaboration, implementation, and evaluation. In the research phase, the main goal is to understand the current policies and procedures regarding palliative care in the intensive care unit. In the proposal, the research and evidence will be compiled regarding the implementation of palliative care involvement. During the approval phase, the documents will be sent to the managers and physicians in hopes of beginning the implementation. Once approval is given, the collaboration phase requires the entire

medical team of the ICU, including managers, palliative care team, intensivists, and some nurses on the unit in order to develop a feasible plan and work out any issues they might foresee.

Implementation is putting into practice palliative care consults upon admission. Lastly, evaluation phase is a debrief session of how this is affecting patient outcomes. A timeline for these activities is listed in Table 1.

Challenges were encountered while attempting to implement earlier palliative care involvement in the ICU. First, I no longer work at the establishment where this vision of increasing palliative care involvement came about. One of the reasons I left this facility was due to a high rate of mortality among the ICU patients, with very few successful outcomes. As a new nurse, this weighed heavy on my heart and the combination of covid led me to burn out pretty quickly. A change of pace was needed to protect myself, so I left this role. However, thinking back to when I was still there, I believe another issue I would have run into was the lack of resources and staffing among the palliative care team. There were two doctors and one nurse practitioner on their team that would round and with the number of patients in the intensive care units, this is inappropriate.

Change management is an important tool to have. Some of the factors for promoting the management of change in practice is to remain persistent and patient and to know when to make the decision to make a change (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019). It is essential to be prepared for change when implementing evidence into practice. Even though this change was unable to be implemented into practice, much thought went into it to ensure success. The ability to be creative and persistent are two key traits one must have when discussing this evidence-based change. It is important to advocate for our intensive care unit patients and by ensuring earlier palliative care involvement, this is completed. The evidence is present that this change will produce positive

patient outcomes. Specifically, it "has been proven to decrease mortality, length of stay, and days on the ventilator, while increasing DNR/DNI transitions" (Kyeremanteng et al., 2018).

Ultimately, the outcomes to be measured are statistic comparing before and after the intervention for percentages of length of stay, patient morality, DNR/DNI transitions, and hospice transfers.

There will be a control group that had the previous protocol for palliative care interventions performed. There are many resources and references that confirm earlier palliative care involvement will improve patient's results in the intensive care unit. Having these strategies and tools to help manage the change process is vital for preparation, implementation, and evaluation.

5. Evaluation Design

By evaluating the data of patient outcomes, such as, hospital mortality, length of stay, and patient and family satisfaction, it will be determined if the change was successful. The process of change will be evaluated by innovation and evidence at work through impact and change, specifically, standards affecting the patients in the intensive care unit (Melnyk, p. 371). The step-by-step evaluation is presented in Appendix B. If the project cannot be implemented, education on the importance of palliative care involvement based on the evidence provided can still be executed to the healthcare staff.

6. Timetable/Flowchart

The PICOT question was developed in the fall of 2022 based on previous experience and research available. Throughout the next three semesters, a total of twelve articles were found and analyzed to support the change project. Each semester dove a little deeper into the importance of palliative care involvement within the ICU. Each article had a rapid critical appraisal and a general appraisal completed to extract the relevant evidence. After presenting the project to the

hospital, Baylor Scott and White All Saints, it was rejected due to a lack of resources. Since this occurred, during the last semester, the project has continued and will hopefully one day in the future be put into fruition.

7. Data Collection Methods

Data collection for the study was performed throughout each semester and consisted of assistance from the librarian as well as from reputable databases. Each article was vetted by course faculty and approved for use based on relevance to the change project. Data collection and evaluation of earlier palliative care consultations in the ICU (when approved) will be completed via surveys given to healthcare staff and participating patients and families as well as statistics before and after implementation.

8. Discussion of Evaluation

Since this change project was not able to be implemented, this discussion is based off the research found based on earlier palliative care involvement within the ICU. Of the twelve articles found for support on earlier palliative care involvement, over half of them discussed the statistics on decreased length of stay and mortality. At Barnes Jewish Hospital, there was an increase of DNR transitions: 18.6% versus 4.9% in the control group and fewer ventilator days: 4 days versus 6 days in the control group (Ma, et al., 2019). A qualitative study using eight different articles found lower mortality in the intervention group 18% and length of stay decreased by 2.5 days (Martins, et al., 2017). In another qualitative study, palliative care consultations significantly reduced length of stay and costs among patients (Kyeremanteng, et al., 2018). From a sample size of 9.452 patients, there was a 34% reduction of hospital mortality in a systematic review that was done (Liu, et. al, 2017). Not only do numbers prove the importance of earlier

palliative care involvement in the ICU, but the other credible resources also that were found all discuss how imperative the team's presence is for the overall wellness and positive outcomes of patients.

9. Costs/Benefits

Palliative care involvement upon intensive care unit admission is feasible now and in the future. Finances are always a big issue when presenting a change to a business such as a hospital and figuring out a way around this was possible. Even though it would be beneficial to obtain more staff for the palliative team, it likely would be rejected due to finances. However, a solution to the monetary issue would be to hire nurse practitioners or even have registered nurses under the providers that are able to do rounds and report back so that money is able to be saved. For example, a palliative care doctor salary is on average \$211,000. A nurse practitioner's salary is approximately \$106,000 which is less than half of the cost of a doctor on staff. With the addition of these roles, the implementation would be sustainable.

The benefit outweighs the costs for the inclusion of more palliative care team members. Hospitals are a business, and it always comes down to financial means. By using nurse practitioners and registered nurses, costs could be cut, but quality palliative care can still be given. The implementation of more palliative care staff can potentially save lives of patients if utilized.

Conclusion/Recommendations

In summation, the evidence and supporting articles show that it is best practice to have palliative care involvement early in the hospital admission process. Cost, length of stay, and

mortality rates decreased from palliative care discussions. Whether it is within the clinical environment, collaborating with other research, or forming a discussion group, the outcomes were all the same. All too often in the ICU, end-of-life decisions were made during codes, which is a highly emotional time. Communication is key in this process, and the nurses who deal with these circumstances have different experiences and knowledge on the death and dying process. The overview of the change project process shows that this subject matter can be put into fruition and will be successful in improving positive patient outcomes, when approved. To conclude, it is vital that palliative care consults are done upon arrival to the ICU to ensure positive patient outcomes in many aspects.

References

- Bloomer, M. J., Endacott, R., Ranse, K., & Coombs, M. A. (2017). Navigating communication with families during withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment in intensive care: a qualitative descriptive study in Australia and New Zealand. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(5–6), 690–697. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13585
- Coventry, A., Ford, R., Rosenberg, J., & McInnes, E. (2020). A qualitative meta-synthesis investigating the experiences of the patient's family when treatment is withdrawn in the intensive care unit. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 76(9), 2222–2234.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14416
- Gatta, B., & Turnbull, J. (2018). Providing palliative care in the medical ICU: A qualitative study of MICU physicians' beliefs and practices. *The American Journal of Hospice* & *Palliative Care*, 35(10), 1309–1313. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909118771378
- Hamdan Alshehri, H., Olausson, S., Öhlén, J., & Wolf, A. (2020). Factors influencing the integration of a palliative approach in intensive care units: a systematic mixed-methods review. *BMC Palliative Care*, 19(1), 113. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-020-00616-y
- Killackey, T., Lovrics, E., Saunders, S., & Isenberg, S. R. (2020). Palliative care transitions from acute care to community-based care: A qualitative systematic review of the experiences

- and perspectives of health care providers. *Palliative Medicine*, *34*(10), 1316–1331. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216320947601
- Kyeremanteng, K., Gagnon, L.-P., Thavorn, K., Heyland, D., & D'Egidio, G. (2018). The impact of palliative care consultation in the ICU on length of stay: A systematic review and cost evaluation. *Journal of Intensive Care Medicine*, 33(6), 346–353.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0885066616664329
- Liu, X., Dawod, Y., Wonnaparhown, A., Shafi, A., Doo, L., Yoo, J. W., Ko, E., & Choi, Y. S. (2017). Effects of hospital palliative care on health, length of stay, and in-hospital mortality across intensive and non-intensive-care units: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Palliative & Supportive Care*, 15(6), 741–752.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1478951516001164
- Ma, J., Chi, S., Buettner, B., Pollard, K., Muir, M., Kolekar, C., Al-Hammadi, N., Chen, L., Kollef, M., & Dans, M. (2019). <u>Early palliative care consultation in the medical ICU</u>: A cluster randomized crossover trial. *Critical Care Medicine*, 47(12), 1707–1715. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.000000000000000016
- Martins, B., Oliveira, R. A., & Cataneo, A. (2017). Palliative care for terminally ill patients in the intensive care unit: Systematic review and metaanalysis. Palliative & supportive care, 15(3), 376–383. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uttyler.edu/10.1017/S1478951516000584
- Melnyk, B. M., & Fineout-Overholt, E. (2019). In *Evidence-based practice in nursing & healthcare: A guide to best practice*. Wolters Kluwer.

- Portz, J. D., Graney, B. A., & Bekelman, D. B. (2021). "Made me realize that life is worth living": A qualitative study of patient perceptions of a primary palliative care intervention. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2021.0015
- Utami, R. S., Pujianto, A., Setyawan, D., Naviati, E., & Rochana, N. (2020). Critical Care

 Nurses' Experiences of End-of-Life Care: A Qualitative Study. *Nurse Media Journal of*Nursing, 10(3), 260–274. https://doi.org/10.14710/nmjn.v10i3.31302

Appendix A

Table 1

Project Implementation Timeline

Phase	Timeline	Dates (2022)
Research	Weeks 1-2	August 29-September 9
Proposal	Weeks 3-4	September 12-September 23
Approval	Weeks 5	September 26-September 30
Collaboration	Weeks 6-8	October 3-October 21
Implementation	Week 9-10	October 24-November 4
Evaluation	Weeks 11-12	November 7- November 18

Appendix B

Evaluation Step-by-Step

- During the research phase, the current hospital statistics will be pulled based on length of stay, patient mortality, DNR/DNI transitions, and hospice transfers.
- 2. Complete weeks 1-10 of change implementation.
- 3. Throughout the implementation, statistics should be monitored for length of stay, patient mortality, DNR/DNI transitions, and hospice transfers.
- 4. At the end of implementation, statistics will be pulled for length of stay, patient mortality, DNR/DNI transitions, and hospice transfers for comparison on patients that did and did not receive earlier palliative care.
- 5. Surveys should also be sent out to the nurses, management on the ICU unit, and techs via email for feedback from the implementation.
- 6. Surveys should also be sent out to patients and/or family members who give consent to express their thoughts and feelings on the presence of the palliative care team on the unit.
- 7. Short, scripted interviews will be done with the palliative care team at the end of the process to evaluate from their perspectives.
- 8. After compiling surveys, interviews, and statistics based on length of stay, patient mortality, DNR/DNI transitions, and hospice transfers, a conclusion will be met on if the change was successful or not.